Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-9-2020

State v. Daniels Appellant's Brief Dckt. 47481

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

During John Huey Daniels' jury trial for felony aggravated battery, Mr. Daniels cross-examined a detective about how Mr. Daniels had characterized the alleged victim. The detective answered that Mr. Daniels had characterized the alleged victim as a gang member, but also volunteered that Mr. Daniels identified himself as a former prison gang member. That voluntary statement came after voir dire had revealed that two members of the jury were current or former employees of the Idaho Department of Correction (IDOC). Mr. Daniels filed a motion for a mistrial based on the prejudice from the detective's volunteered statement, but the district court denied the motion for lack of prejudice and for invited error.

In this appeal, Mr. Daniels asserts the district court committed reversible error when it denied his motion for a mistrial. The detective's voluntary statement was not invited error, because the statement was nonresponsive. When viewed in the context of the full record, the detective's voluntary statement constituted reversible error.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Multiple Garden City and Boise police officers responded to a reported shooting in the area of 44th Street and Chinden Boulevard in Garden City. (*See* Tr., p.156, L.3 – p.157, L.2, p.201, L.18 – p.202, L.21, p.238, L.15 – p.239, L.8.) One of the officers arrived at a trailer home in that area, found Chris Anderson with two wounds on his upper abdomen, and accompanied Mr. Anderson to the hospital. (*See* Tr., p.157, L.21 – p.159, L.19.) Mr. Anderson had an entry wound and a burn wound on his abdomen, consistent with being shot once by a gun. (*See* Tr., p.193, L.4 – p.194, L.15, p.218, Ls-18-25.) Doctors retrieved a bullet from his abdomen.

(See Tr., p.195, Ls.8-19, p.219, Ls.1-16.) Mr. Anderson had a hole in his stomach, and the bullet was close to going into his heart. (See Tr., p.196, L.4 – p.197, L.3.)

Another officer en route received information that a suspect was possibly driving a pickup truck away from the area of the incident. (See Tr., p.202, L.22 – p.203, L.1.) That officer saw a truck matching the description on Chinden Boulevard, and eventually stopped it. (See Tr., p.203, L.2 – p.204, L.25.) Mr. Daniels was the driver of the truck, and Naomi Hernandez was the only passenger. (See Tr., p.210, L.24 – p.211, L.10, p.369, Ls.7-11.) During the stop, Mr. Daniels told officers there was a gun in the passenger door panel of the truck. (See Tr., p.243, Ls.4-12. See generally State’s Ex. 25 (body camera footage of the stop).) Officers then found the gun in the passenger door panel. (See Tr., p.243, Ls.13-17.)

A detective for the Garden City Police Department testified that the bullet recovered from Mr. Anderson was very similar to the bullets found in the gun’s magazine. (See Tr., p.241, L.13 – p.242, L.4.) The gun was a 9mm, but the bullets were .380, a wrong caliber for that type of gun. (See Tr., p.242, Ls.5-11.) However, the detective testified that .380 rounds could be fired once from a 9mm gun, but the gun would not eject the case. (See Tr., p.242, Ls.12-21.)

Detective O’Gorman testified that he conducted a gunshot residue test on Mr. Daniels at the police station, and then he interviewed Ms. Hernandez. (See Tr., p.268, L.2 – p.269, L.20.) He subsequently advised Mr. Daniels of his *Miranda* rights, and Mr. Daniels agreed to speak with him. (See Tr., p.269, Ls.20-25. See generally State’s Ex. 23 (video recording of the interview with Mr. Daniels).) At first, Mr. Daniels was adamant that he had not been involved in a shooting, but after Detective O’Gorman told him in a “ruse” that the gunshot residue test had already shown gunshot residue was on his hand, Mr. Daniels stated he had fired a handgun the

evening before. (*See Tr.*, p.270, Ls.1-22.) Per the detective, Mr. Daniels later admitted that story was false. (*See Tr.*, p.270, L.23 – p.272, L.6.)

Detective O’Gorman testified that Mr. Daniels told him he was at a friend’s house at the time of the incident. (*See Tr.*, p.272, Ls.7-15.) Mr. Daniels stated he had not been involved in an altercation, and did not have a gun in his possession. (*See Tr.*, p.272, L.24 – p.273, L.14.) The detective went back to Ms. Hernandez’s interview room, before he returned to Mr. Daniels and stated that he knew Mr. Daniels had been involved in a shooting. (*See Tr.*, p.273, L.15 – p.274, L.4.) Detective O’Gorman testified that Ms. Hernandez’s account of what had happened had changed, and she had made statements contrary to the statements Mr. Daniels had made. (*See Tr.*, p.273, Ls.21-23, p.294, Ls.12-20.) Detective O’Gorman testified that Mr. Daniels then changed his story, stating he had a handgun and had been involved in a shooting. (*See Tr.*, p.274, Ls.4-17.) Mr. Daniels testified that he did not tell Detective O’Gorman up front what had happened in the house, because he was scared. (*See Tr.*, p.427, Ls.3-13.)

According to Detective O’Gorman, Mr. Daniels stated he went to the house with the gun to help Jeff Mangum retrieve some money, but he tried to leave before entering the house when he realized the house was Mr. Anderson’s. (*See Tr.*, p.274, L.18 – p.275, L.22.) Mr. Daniels stated that, inside the house, Mr. Anderson and Mr. Anderson’s cousin struck him. (*See Tr.*, p.277, L.17 – p.278, L.3.) However, Detective O’Gorman testified he did not see any marks on Mr. Daniels consistent with being hit, and Mr. Daniels pointed out during the interview that he had no marks. (*See Tr.*, p.278, Ls.6-14.) Mr. Daniels stated he removed the pistol from his rear pocket, and it went off when he was hit. (*See Tr.*, p.279, Ls.17-20.) The detective testified that, for much of the interview, he repeatedly offered Mr. Daniels paths to self-defense, but Mr. Daniels did not take them. (*See Tr.*, p.288, Ls.8-12.)

Ms. Hernandez testified that she and Mr. Mangum went into Mr. Anderson's house before Mr. Daniels, and Mr. Anderson was upset because Mr. Mangum brought people into the house. (*See Tr.*, p.361, L.1 – p.362, L.16.) She testified that Mr. Anderson got mad at Mr. Daniels when he entered the house, but Mr. Daniels remained calm. (*See Tr.*, p.363, Ls.5-12.) She also saw a big knife or machete on a coffee table. (*See Tr.*, p.366, L.21, p.367, L.7.) However, Detective O'Gorman testified that Ms. Hernandez did not mention a machete in her police interview. (*See Tr.*, p.330, L.16 – p.331, L.13.) A crime scene investigator for the Garden City Police testified that she recalled seeing a machete type knife or sword in the house while assisting with a search warrant following the incident. (*See Tr.*, p.234, L.7 – p.235, L.11.) Detective O'Gorman testified that he saw a blade that looked more like a sword than a knife in the house. (*See Tr.*, p.316, L.16 – p.317, L.6.)

Ms. Hernandez testified that Mr. Anderson and another man hit Mr. Daniels. (*See Tr.*, p.363, L.16 – p.264, L.6.) However, Detective O'Gorman testified that Ms. Hernandez, in her police interview, described one person attacking Mr. Daniels. (*See Tr.*, p.495, Ls.2-12.) Ms. Hernandez testified she heard one or two shots, but did not see who had the gun or if there was a gun at all. (*See Tr.*, p.368, L.18 – p.369, L.6.) Alisha Clark, who had been in the house before Mr. Daniels arrived, testified that she turned away from the fighting, heard a loud shot, and then heard Mr. Anderson say he had been shot. (*See Tr.*, pp.168, L.12 – p.169, L.9.)

The State charged Mr. Daniels by Information with felony aggravated battery with a use of a firearm or deadly weapon during the commission of a crime sentencing enhancement. (R., pp.26-27, 33-34.) The State later charged Mr. Daniels with a persistent violator sentencing enhancement. (R., pp.43-44.) Mr. Daniels pleaded not guilty, and exercised his right to a jury trial. (*See R.*, pp.31-32, 45, 69-85.) Mr. Anderson did not testify at the trial. (*See generally Tr.*)

During cross-examination, Detective O’Gorman testified that Mr. Daniels in his interview characterized Mr. Anderson “to be a member of something.” (*See* Tr., p.313, Ls.19-22.) Defense counsel and Detective O’Gorman then had the following exchange:

Q. And what was that?

A. He classified him as being a member of the SVC, Which is a gang.

Q. Okay.

A. Daniels also identified himself as an Aryan Knight dropout.

Q. Okay. So are you familiar with those two gangs and the animosity between the two?

A. Yes, sir.

(Tr., p.313, L.23 – p.314, L.9.) Detective O’Gorman then testified that the prior incident was from Mr. Anderson claiming Mr. Daniels had stolen from SVC. (*See* Tr., p.314, L.20 – p.316, L.15.) During redirect examination, Detective O’Gorman clarified that Mr. Daniels was referring to himself as an Aryan Knight dropout. (Tr., p.331, Ls.14-22.)

After the detective finished his testimony, defense counsel noted that two current or former IDOC employees had been seated on the jury panel. (*See* Tr., p.336, Ls.4-15.) Mr. Daniels’ counsel asserted that, when he asked Detective O’Gorman about the SVC gang, “the witness also volunteered that Mr. Daniels relayed to him that he was an Aryan Knight dropout.” (Tr., p.336, Ls.17-21.) Defense counsel asserted: “Both of these gangs are prison gangs. They’re well known in the prison. And so now that this has come to light about Mr. Daniels, these two jurors know that he’s either been to prison or is in prison. And because of that, I’m moving for a mistrial.” (Tr., p.336, L.23 – p.337, L.2.)

In requesting a mistrial, defense counsel referred to the current or former IDOC employees or “two jurors,” Jurors 3 and 10. During voir dire, Juror 3 stated he had formerly

worked for IDOC for ten and one-half years, as a food service officer, correctional corporal, and finally a correctional shift commander, investigator. (*See Tr.*, p.32, Ls.5-18, p.91, L.19 – p.92, L.8.) As an investigator, Juror 3 had conducted fact findings and looked into rule violations. (*See Tr.*, p.92, Ls.12-16.) Juror 3 described his duties as, “Anything as simple as just a basic, you know, finger pointing to something that could go as far as conducting a criminal investigation for a felony.” (*Tr.*, p.92, Ls.16-18.) Juror 10 was currently an IDOC computer lab instructor, who maintained an inmate network for student learning. (*See Tr.*, pp.33, Ls.9-22, p.92, Ls.19-24.) Juror 10 was not involved in disciplinary investigations, but could “write out disciplinary reports if they commit some sort of offense in the classroom.” (*Tr.*, p.92, L.25 – p.93, L.5.) Jurors 3 and 10 both sat on the jury panel. (*Tr.*, p.133, Ls.14-22.)

The State responded to Mr. Daniels’ request for a mistrial by arguing that it did not intend to mention the Aryan Knights again, and the defense had elicited the testimony during cross-examination. (*See Tr.*, p.337, Ls.4-15.) The State also argued, “And I think it was elicited fairly given the context of the question and it was within the ambit of the answer that was sought by defense counsel regarding animosity between gangs, a prior theft of SVC’s property or drugs or something else.” (*Tr.*, p.337, Ls.15-21.)

Mr. Daniels’ counsel replied, “I did not ask specifically what Mr. Daniels associated himself with or had been associated with.” (*Tr.*, p.338, Ls.4-6.) Defense counsel admitted that asking a follow-up question, “may have been error on my part.” (*See Tr.*, p.338, Ls.7-8.) However, defense counsel asserted, “there’s now an issue that Mr. Daniels has a claim now this jury is prejudiced and they cannot be fair in determining his guilt or innocence because of the knowledge of these gangs in prison.” (*Tr.*, p.338, Ls.10-14.) The State contended that

mentioning that Mr. Daniels was formerly in a prison gang did not rise to the level of prejudice required for a mistrial. (*See* Tr., p.338, L.18 – p.339, L.1.)

The district court thought “it would have been fair to maybe further voir dire those prospective jurors that have experience with the Department of Correction and explore what their duties and obligations were and whether or not they are familiar with any gang activity that goes on in the prison,” but that inquiry did not happen. (*See* Tr., p.339, L.24- p.340, L.12.) The court characterized Mr. Daniels’ concern as being that the current or former IDOC employees would tell the other jurors Mr. Daniels had been in a prison gang and therefore in prison. (*See* Tr., p.340, Ls.13-21.) Because it did not know if the IDOC-related jurors would do so, the district court determined, “So at this point, I can’t make a finding that there’s been an error or legal defect in the proceedings.” (Tr., p.340, Ls.22-25.) Finding such an error, according to the court, would require that the jurors ignore the previously-given jury instruction “which specifically says to the jury that they are not to communicate any private or special knowledge about any of the facts of this case to your fellow jurors.” (Tr., p.341, Ls.1-6; *see* Tr., p.147, Ls.17-19.)

The district court determined, “We haven’t had a defect or a problem in the legal proceedings at this point, so the Court’s going to deny the motion.” (Tr., p.341, Ls.12-14.) The court also determined: “And I guess the final grounds for denying the motion at this point is the subject of a gang conflict was brought up by the defense. And I don’t know that I can declare a mistrial and essentially hold things against the State for something the defense brought up.” (Tr., p.341, L.23 – p.342, L.2.)

Mr. Daniels testified that, while driving with Ms. Hernandez the morning of the incident, he made arrangements to meet Jeff Mangum at a gas station. (*See Tr.*, p.398, L.3 – p.40, L.14.)¹ Mr. Mangum asked Mr. Daniels for a ride home to Nampa, but the three ended up at a trailer park on 44th Street. (*See Tr.*, p.404, L.20 – p.405, L.10.) Mr. Mangum stated he needed to stop by his friend’s house, but at the trailer park, he revealed the house was Mr. Anderson’s. (*See Tr.*, p.405, Ls.10-24.)

Mr. Daniels testified that he knew Mr. Anderson from a previous incident involving Mr. Daniels’ girlfriend. (*See Tr.*, p.406, L.3 – p.408, L.8.) Mr. Daniels and his girlfriend, Hailey Mangum, testified that while she was babysitting for a friend and Mr. Daniels was out at a gas station, Mr. Anderson showed up with brass knuckles and threatened her. (*See Tr.*, p.388, L.13 – p.391, L.15, p.406, L.12 – p.4.) According to Mr. Daniels, one of Mr. Anderson’s friends had accused Mr. Daniels of theft. (*See Tr.*, p.408, L.17 – p.409, L.19.) Ms. Mangum testified that she was scared because she knew Mr. Anderson was part of the Severely Violent Criminals (SVC) gang. (*See Tr.*, p.393, Ls.5-9.) She testified that Mr. Anderson told her he was in SVC, and he threatened her and her family. (*See Tr.*, p.393, Ls.10-16.) Mr. Daniels similarly testified that, after he returned, Mr. Anderson stated he was in SVC and threatened to beat him and kill him and his family. (*See Tr.*, p.407, Ls.11-18.) He testified that Derek Tuschoff was also there with Mr. Anderson. (*See Tr.*, p.406, L.19 – p.407, L.2.) The verbal altercation ended when Ms. Mangum’s friend showed up. (*See Tr.*, pp.393-94, p.408, Ls.1-8.)

That prior incident was going through Mr. Daniels’ head while he was outside Mr. Anderson’s house, and he testified that he told Mr. Mangum about that bad blood. (*See Tr.*, p.410, Ls.4-6, p.411, Ls.2-4.) Mr. Mangum stated he had already spoken with

¹ All citations to “Tr.” refer to the Reporter’s Transcript of Jury Trial, conducted on August 26-28, 2019.

Mr. Anderson, who knew he was in the wrong. (*See Tr.*, p.411, Ls.5-10.) Mr. Mangum wanted to clear the air and make things right, and Mr. Daniels said he could go in for a couple minutes. (*See Tr.*, p.411, L.12 – p.412, L.3.) He testified that he had a gun in his back pocket, but he did not know the gun was loaded. (*See Tr.*, p.414, L.9 – p.415, L.14.) The gun belonged to his employer, who had left it in Mr. Daniels' truck the night before. (*See Tr.*, p.412, L.17 – p.414, L.8.)

Mr. Daniels testified that Mr. Anderson and Mr. Mangum were talking when he entered, and Mr. Anderson began yelling at him and asking what he was doing in the house. (*See Tr.*, p.415, Ls.15-22.) Mr. Anderson and Mr. Tuschoff, also in the house, immediately recognized Mr. Daniels. (*See Tr.*, p.415, L.23 – p.416, L.1.) Mr. Daniels said that Mr. Mangum told him Mr. Anderson wanted to talk with him, but Mr. Anderson ranted that he was in SVC and he would paralyze Mr. Daniels for life. (*See Tr.*, p.416, L.20 – p.417, L.5.) Mr. Daniels saw a machete-like knife in the room. (*See Tr.*, p.418, Ls.2-23.)

Per Mr. Daniels, he stated he was going to leave, but Mr. Tuschoff cornered him. (*See Tr.*, p.417, Ls.9-21.) Mr. Anderson then came towards him and started swinging with his fists. (*See Tr.*, p.420, Ls.4-22.) He tried to fend off Mr. Anderson, but Mr. Tuschoff struck him on the left side of his head and knocked him back against a wall. (*See Tr.*, p.420, L.18 – p.421, L.8.) As both of them came at Mr. Daniels, he heard the sound of a knife being dragged on a surface. (*See Tr.*, p.421, Ls.9-15.)

Mr. Daniels testified that he got scared and went for the gun in his back pocket. (*Tr.*, p.422, Ls.1-4.) He testified that he intended to use the gun to scare them to get away from him, so he and Ms. Hernandez could get out of the house. (*See Tr.*, p.422, Ls.5-13.) When he got the gun out, Mr. Tuschoff continued to hit him. (*Tr.*, p.422, Ls.14-16.) Mr. Daniels testified

that he fell back during one of those hits and hit the wall, and the gun went off. (Tr., p.422, Ls.16-18.) Mr. Daniels testified that he did not intend for the gun to go off, and he could not say that he intentionally stuck his finger in the trigger guard. (See Tr., p.422, L.19 – p.423, L.4.) When the gun went off, he was not pointing it at anyone. (Tr., p.423, Ls.5-7.) However, he later told Ms. Hernandez in a jail phone call that he intended to shoot a round in the floor. (See Tr., p.423, Ls.8-15.)

Mr. Daniels testified that, after the gun went off, Mr. Anderson and Mr. Tuschoff scattered away from him, and he and Ms. Hernandez left the house. (See Tr., p.423, L.21 – p.425, L.3.) He jumped into his truck, and the gun was placed in the passenger door panel. (See Tr., p.425, Ls.4-12.) He testified that he may have handed the gun to Ms. Hernandez to do that, but he was not sure if she actually took it or not. (See Tr., p.425, Ls.13-18.)

The jury found Mr. Daniels guilty of aggravated battery with the use of a firearm or a deadly weapon in the commission of a crime, and Mr. Daniels admitted to the prior offenses underlying the persistent violator sentencing enhancement. (R., pp.88-99, 120.) The district court imposed a unified sentence of ten years, with five years fixed. (R., pp.123-26.)

Mr. Daniels filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the district court's Judgment of Conviction. (R., pp.130-33.)

ISSUE

Did the district court commit reversible error when it denied Mr. Daniels' motion for a mistrial?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Committed Reversible Error When It Denied Mr. Daniels' Motion For A Mistrial

A. Introduction

Mr. Daniels asserts the district court committed reversible error when it denied his motion for a mistrial. Contrary to the district court's determination, Detective O'Gorman's volunteered statement that Mr. Daniels identified himself as a former member of the Aryan Knights was not invited error, because the statement was nonresponsive to defense counsel's question on Mr. Anderson's affiliations. When viewed in the context of the full record, Detective O'Gorman's statement constituted reversible error, despite the district court previously instructing the jurors not to share private or special knowledge with each other. It was extremely prejudicial to have the two jurors currently or formerly employed by IDOC learn that Mr. Daniels was a former prison gang member.

B. Standard Of Review

"A mistrial may be declared on motion of the defendant when there occurs during the trial, either inside or outside the courtroom, an error or legal defect in the proceedings, or conduct that is prejudicial to the defendant and deprives the defendant of a fair trial."

I.C.R. 29.1(a).

As the Idaho Supreme Court has held, "In reviewing a district court's denial of a motion for mistrial in a criminal case, the question is not whether the trial judge reasonably exercised his discretion in light of circumstances existing when the mistrial motion was made." *State v. Johnson*, 163 Idaho 412, 421 (2018) (quoting *State v. Sandoval-Tena*, 138 Idaho 908, 912 (2003)). "Rather, the question must be whether the event which precipitated the motion for

mistrial represented reversible error when viewed in the context of the full record.” *Id.* “Thus, where a motion for mistrial has been denied in a criminal case, the ‘abuse of discretion’ standard is a misnomer.” *Id.* “The standard, more accurately stated, is one of reversible error.” *Id.* The appellate court’s “focus is upon the continuing impact on the trial of the incident that triggered the mistrial motion.” *Id.* “The trial judge’s refusal to declare a mistrial will be disturbed only if that incident, viewed retrospectively, constituted reversible error.” *Id.*

C. Detective O’Gorman’s Volunteered Statement Was Not Invited Error, Because The Statement Was Nonresponsive

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