Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-30-2020

State v. Daniels Respondent's Brief Dckt. 47481

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

a gang conflict was brought up by the defense.” (Tr., p. 341, L. 23 – p. 342, L. 2.) The district court concluded that Daniels had failed to show error, and that for error to occur it would require the two jurors to violate their instructions. (Tr., p. 342, Ls. 7-11.)

On appeal Daniels argues the district court erred because (1) the invited error doctrine did not apply to the witness’s statement about the Aryan Knights (Appellant’s brief, pp. 13-20) and (2) the statement constituted reversible error (Appellant’s brief, pp. 20-25). Daniels’s claims of error fail because the record shows that the district court correctly concluded that the argument the two jurors would infer that Daniels had been in prison was speculative; that the instruction to not share specialized knowledge addressed the concern of juror misconduct raised by defense counsel in the motion; and that defense counsel did in fact introduce the subject of gang conflict when he specifically asked about gang animosity in a follow-up question.

B. Standard Of Review

“The decision to declare a mistrial is within the discretion of the district court, and such a determination will only be reversed when that discretion has been abused.” State v. Manley, 142 Idaho 338, 342, 127 P.3d 954, 958 (2005). “The power to declare a mistrial is the power to avert the consequences of an event at trial that might otherwise deprive the defendant of a fair trial and lead to reversal of a conviction.” State v. Urquhart, 105 Idaho 92, 95, 665 P.2d 1102, 1105 (Ct. App. 1983). Thus, a “trial judge’s refusal to declare a mistrial will be disturbed only if that incident, viewed retrospectively, constituted reversible error.” Id.

C. Daniels Has Failed To Show Error By The District Court Because The Record Supports All Three Of Its Bases For Denying The Motion For Mistrial

“The threshold inquiry” in review of the denial of a mistrial motion “is whether *the state* introduced error.” State v. Shepherd, 124 Idaho 54, 57, 855 P.2d 891, 894 (Ct. App. 1993) (emphasis added). “[W]hen an officer of the State gives any unsolicited testimony that is gratuitous and prejudicial to the defendant, that testimony will be imputed to the State for the purposes of determining prosecutorial misconduct.” State v. Johnson, 163 Idaho 412, 423, 414 P.3d 234, 245 (2018). The Court reviews for reversible error only where the state-introduced error allegedly necessitating the mistrial is “supported by a contemporaneous objection to the underlying procedural or evidentiary error.” State v. Field, 144 Idaho 559, 571, 165 P.3d 273, 285 (2007). “When there is no contemporaneous objection a conviction will be reversed for prosecutorial misconduct only if the conduct is sufficiently egregious so as to result in fundamental error.” Id.

Daniels did not object to the testimony that prompted his motion for a mistrial, nor did he move to strike it. Rather, his motion was based exclusively on the theory that two jurors who had worked or did work for the Department of Correction would infer from the testimony that Daniels had served time in prison and would so inform the other jurors. (Tr., p. 336, L. 6 – p. 337, L. 2; p. 338, Ls. 1-14.) The district court properly rejected this theory.

1. The District Court Properly Rejected Daniels’s Mistrial Theory For Three Reasons

First, the district court concluded that Daniels had not shown that the jurors in question were familiar with the Aryan Knights or would infer a prison record based on a past association with them. (Tr., p. 339, L. 18 – p. 340, L. 12.) Daniels’s failure to support his claim with evidence is borne out by the record.

Prospective Juror No. 3 worked for IDOC for ten years, but at the time of trial worked for the Department of Agriculture. (Tr., p. 32, Ls. 1-18.) He started as a “food service officer,” became a “correctional corporal,” and finished as a “correctional shift commander.” (Tr., p. 91, L. 19 – p. 92, L. 11.) He stated that he had not formed a bias against persons who were “sent to the state penitentiary.” (Tr., p. 32, Ls. 19-23.) Prospective Juror No. 10 worked for IDOC as a computer lab instructor. (Tr., p. 33, Ls. 9-22.) Neither juror was asked anything about their knowledge of gangs. (Tr., p. 17, L. 7 – p. 134, L. 13.) The district court correctly concluded that Daniels had not supported his claim that these two jurors would have concluded that Daniels had been in prison based on the reference to being an Aryan Knights dropout.

Second, the district court concluded that Daniels had not shown that the two jurors who worked at IDOC had or would transmit any specialized knowledge about the Aryan Knights to the other jurors. (Tr., p. 340, L. 13 – p. 341, L. 7.) Nothing in the record shows that, even if the two jurors were familiar with the significance of having a prior association with the Aryan Knights, they did or would have conveyed such information to the other jurors. As found by the district court, the jurors were instructed to not share any specialized knowledge about the facts of the case with the other jurors. (R., p. 103.) The district court correctly concluded there was no showing of error, and that it could rely on the jury instructions. To overcome the presumption that jurors followed given instructions, “a defendant claiming error in the denial of a mistrial motion must show there is an overwhelming probability that the jury was unable to follow the court’s instructions and a strong likelihood that the effect of the evidence was devastating to the defendant.” State

v. Maldonado, 164 Idaho 702, 706, 435 P.3d 14, 18 (Ct. App. 2018). The record supports no such showing.

Third, the district court found that “the subject of a gang conflict was brought up by the defense.” (Tr., p. 341, L. 23 – p. 342, L. 2.) “A misstep on dangerous ground, where counsel has voluntarily ventured but is unsure of possible responses, may result in invited error, and if so, cannot then be grounds for a mistrial.” State v. Atkinson, 124 Idaho 816, 821, 864 P.2d 654, 659 (Ct. App. 1993). Here the record shows that defense counsel did introduce “the subject of gang conflict.”

After Detective O’Gorman testified that Daniels had identified Anderson as a member of the SVC and stated that he was an “Aryan Knights dropout” (Tr., p. 313, L. 19 – p. 314, L. 6), defense counsel did not object or move to strike the answer. Instead, he asked the question, “So you are familiar with those two gangs and the animosity between the two?” and received the answer, “Yes.” (Tr., p. 314, Ls. 7-9.) Defense counsel then went on to explore the potential role of gangs in the prior confrontation between Daniels and Anderson. (Tr., p. 314, L. 10 – p. 316, L. 15.) This record shows that defense counsel pursued a line of inquiry about gang conflict and its potential role in the events surrounding the shooting. That he later regretted having pursued that line of inquiry (Tr., p. 338, Ls. 7-9) does not negate the fact the error was invited.

The district court properly rejected the mistrial motion as it was presented. Daniels claimed, but failed to show, prejudice from two jurors inferring that Daniels had been in prison because of specialized knowledge of the nature of the Aryan Knights gang. Daniels also claimed, but failed to show, that the two jurors would have shared this specialized knowledge despite instructions not to. Finally, defense counsel’s actions of inquiring about

animosity between the two gangs and the role of gang activity in the events surrounding the shooting, instead of objecting and moving to strike the testimony about the Aryan Knights, supports the district court's conclusion that any error was invited.

2. Daniels Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court's Determination That Daniels Had Not Shown The Jurors Who Worked For IDOC Would Have Drawn The Inference That Daniels Had Been In Prison

On appeal, Daniels has failed to show error in any of the three bases for denying the mistrial motion articulated by the district court. First, he has failed to show error in the district court's determination that Daniels had failed to show that the two IDOC employees in fact were familiar with the Aryan Knights and would conclude that Daniels's prior association with them meant he had spent time in prison.

Daniels argues that the statement was inadmissible under I.R.E. 404(b) and that evidence of gang affiliation is generally highly prejudicial. (Appellant's brief, p. 19.) However, the transcripts contains no I.R.E. 404(b) objection to the testimony, nor any motion to strike it. This argument is not preserved. "To properly preserve an issue for appellate review, both the issue and the party's position on the issue must be raised before the trial court." State v. Hoskins, 165 Idaho 217, 222, 443 P.3d 231, 236 (2019) (quotation marks omitted). Because Daniels made no I.R.E. 404(b) objection (and indeed, at no point at trial even claimed the evidence was inadmissible), this issue is not preserved for appellate review. The issues on appeal must be limited to the issues below: whether two jurors with a work history at IDOC would have inferred from the Aryan Knight evidence that Daniels had been a prison inmate, would have shared that inference with the rest of the jury, and that the jury thus would be unfairly prejudiced. (Tr., p. 336, L. 6 – p. 337, L. 2; p. 338, Ls. 1-14.)

Daniels also argues “it was likely” the jurors who had worked for IDOC “knew of the nature of the Aryan Knights,” especially the one who had worked as a shift commander and investigator. (Appellant’s brief, p. 23.) Daniels makes no specific argument that the computer lab instructor knew about the Aryan Knights. Neither the district court nor this Court needs accept Daniels’s speculation, however. See, e.g., State v. Watkins, 152 Idaho 764, 766, 274 P.3d 1279, 1281 (Ct. App. 2012) (speculative prejudice did not necessitate mistrial). Daniels has failed to show that the specific prejudice he argued below—knowledge that he had been in prison—was improperly rejected by the district court for lack of support.²

3. Daniels Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court’s Determination That Daniels Had Not Shown The Jurors Who Worked For IDOC Would Share Specialized Knowledge With The Other Jurors

Daniels has also failed to show error in the district court’s determination that, even if the two jurors had specialized knowledge of the Aryan Knights, there was no grounds to assume they would share that knowledge with the other jurors. The district court so found both because there was no evidence of it happening, and because the jurors had been instructed not to share specialized knowledge. On appeal Daniels argues that the jurors would not have so construed the instruction, because they were also given an instruction that they could rely on their own experience in making credibility determinations. (Appellant’s brief, pp. 23-24.) Again, however, this claim is unpreserved because it was not raised below. Hoskins, 165 Idaho at 222, 443 P.3d at 236. Moreover, any claim the

² In addition, Daniels did not move to excuse the one juror he, on appeal, claims “likely” knew that association with the Aryan Knights indicated having spent time in prison, and to proceed with the alternate juror.

instruction was inadequate is waived by Daniels's failure to request a curative instruction. See State v. Pearce, 146 Idaho 241, 248, 192 P.3d 1065, 1072 (2008) ("This Court will not allow a defendant to appeal an instruction which was never offered at the trial level, unless that instruction constitutes a necessary matter of law whose omission would constitute fundamental error."); State v. Setzer, 136 Idaho 477, 478, 36 P.3d 829, 830 (Ct. App. 2001) (failure to request instruction waives claim of error in not giving instruction). Finally, Daniels makes no claim of error in the court's determination that it had no evidence that the two jurors had or would in fact share suspicions that Daniels had been in prison at some point.

4. Daniels Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court's Determination That The Defense Brought Up The Subject Of Gang Conflict

Daniels has finally failed to show that the district court erred when it concluded that defense counsel invited the error by bringing up the subject of a gang conflict. Daniels first argues that Detective O'Gorman's testimony about Daniels stating he was an "Aryan Knights dropout" was nonresponsive and therefore not invited. (Appellant's brief, pp. 14-24.) This argument is based on an unreasonably narrow view of the record, an overly generous reading of the law, and a misunderstanding of the district court's finding.

First, Daniels's argument presents an unreasonably narrow view of the record. A complete review shows that defense counsel did not limit his inquiry to what gang Anderson belonged to, but instead asked more broadly about Daniels's statements, and thus elicited the statement about Daniels's own prior gang affiliation.

Using O'Gorman's police report, defense counsel elicited testimony in cross examination about Daniels's statements about Anderson's affiliation with SVC. (Tr., p.

313, Ls. 19-21.) The police report at issue stated that Daniels said that when he entered Anderson's trailer, Anderson reacted angrily because he believed Daniels had stolen drugs from SVC. (PSI, p. 1015.) Anderson had previously confronted Daniels about the theft, and Daniels had denied it. (Id.) In the middle of describing the events surround the shooting, Daniels "said he was an AK dropout (Former Arian Knights gang member). [Daniels] said if he ever goes back to prison 'I'm done'." (Id. (punctuation and spelling original).)

After confirming that the detective "wrote down" in his police report Daniels's "characteriz[ation]" of Anderson as "a member of something," defense counsel confirmed the detective was "familiar with what *he [Daniels] was talking about.*" (Tr., p. 313, L. 19-25 (emphasis added).) Counsel then asked, "And *what was that?*" (Tr., p. 314, L. 1.) Thus, the question before Detective O'Gorman was *what Daniels was talking about*. The detective answered that Daniels had claimed Anderson was a member of SVC and identified himself as being a former member of the Aryan Knights. (Tr., p. 314, Ls. 1-6.)

Counsel then followed up on this answer by asking, "So you are familiar with those two gangs and the animosity between the two?" (Tr., p. 314, Ls. 7-8.) Counsel then explored in detail Daniels's statement, as set forth in the police report, about Anderson having previously confronted him about a theft from SVC. (Tr., p. 314, L. 10 – p. 316, L. 15.) This testimony ultimately supported Daniels's testimony that when he entered the trailer with a gun in his pocket, Anderson and another person attacked him and he shot Anderson by accident while trying to scare him with the gun. (Tr., p. 402, L. 24 – p. 423, L. 20.)

The record shows that Daniels's counsel did not limit his inquiry to only Anderson's gang affiliation. Rather, his questions were in regards to Daniels's statement about his history with Anderson. Included in Daniels's statement was his own prior gang affiliation. Moreover, the fact defense counsel asked a follow-up question about whether the detective was aware of animosity between the gangs instead of objecting to the answer as beyond the scope of the question and moving to strike it shows counsel at that time did not believe the testimony to have been improperly volunteered.

Trial counsel's questions were not limited to Anderson's gang affiliation. Because it was cross-examination, counsel could simply have asked, "Did Mr. Daniels state that Anderson was a member of SVC?" He did not. Instead, he asked much broader questions about *Daniels's statement*. He also asked at least one question directly about gang animosity between the two gangs, and additional questions about whether a prior confrontation between Daniels and Anderson was gang related. The record does not support Daniels's argument that trial counsel's questioning was narrow and did not include Daniels's gang affiliation.

Second, Daniels's argument fails because it is based on an overly generous reading of the law. A defendant "cannot complain of any error in [inadmissible testimony] he elicited." State v. Abdullah, 158 Idaho 386, 435, 348 P.3d 1, 50 (2015). See also State v. Gleason, 123 Idaho 62, 66, 844 P.2d 691, 695 (1992) ("Appellant cannot now be heard to denounce testimony that he roused. This constitutes invited error.").

These standards were employed in State v. Parker, 157 Idaho 132, 148 n.2, 334 P.3d 806, 822 n.2 (2014). In that case defense counsel asked a detective if the defendant "was being cooperative with you the entire time' of the interview" and the detective

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